STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Newberry County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED  
MAR 18 2013  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

THELA DARION MCARDLE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000843

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in Appellant's favor where the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant committed homicide by child abuse under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-585(A)(1).

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 2, 2015, the Newberry County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for homicide by child abuse. R. 1082 - 1083. On April 4-8, 2016, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy Jr., and a jury.

Charles Verner represented Appellant, and Solicitor David Stumbo and Assistant Solicitor Taylor Daniel represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. The trial court sentenced Appellant to thirty years imprisonment.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in Appellant's favor where the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant committed homicide by child abuse under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-585(A)(1).**

### **Relevant Facts**

At 1:38 a.m. on December 30, 2014, Appellant and her boyfriend and pimp, Richard Bowman rushed Appellant's three year-old son, Minor, to the Newberry Hospital emergency room. Bowman carried the non-responsive Minor into the hospital while Appellant parked her car and joined them one minute and thirty-five seconds later. R. 28, ll. 4 - 18; R. 40, l. 6 - 42, l. 7.

Minor was not breathing and his circulatory system had shut down. R. 66, l. 23 - 71, l. 6. Dr. Duncan Holaday, the ER doctor, attempted to revive Minor, but was unsuccessful. Holaday recalled at trial that Minor had a large amount of viscous brown matter stuck in his mouth. Holaday also recalled that Minor was cold to the touch. *Id.* Minor 1 was pronounced dead at 2:06 a.m. on December 30, 2014. R. 78, ll. 1 - 9.

Following several hours of interrogation, where neither implicated the other, Appellant and Bowman were arrested and charged with homicide by child abuse.

### *Dr. Duncan Holaday's Trial Testimony*

Holaday concluded that, due to the lack of rigor mortis, Minor had been dead or in a "non-resuscitateable state" for two hours or less from the time that he first began triage. R. 79, ll. 5-23. Holaday observed bruising on Minor's head and abdomen. Most alarmingly, Holaday's examination revealed extensive bruising and damage to Minor's genitals. R. 93, l. 1 - 94, l. 17. Based on the genital bruises' location, Holaday surmised that anyone who bathed the child would have noticed the injuries, but that they would not be readily apparent when Minor was clothed. *Id.*

Holaday testified that Minor died due to extensive head trauma. R. 81, l. 16 – 82, l. 23. He determined that Minor would have been dead within thirty minutes to an hour after the head injuries occurred. *Id.* A closer inspection of the injuries to Minor's abdomen revealed that he had a ruptured small intestine and duodenum. R. 95, ll. 10-23. Had Minor not died from the head trauma, these internal injuries to his gastrointestinal tract would have been fatal in a matter of days. *Id.*

*Trial Testimony of Richard Bowman*

The State's key witness was Richard Bowman. Bowman was the only one with Minor for the window of time during which the fatal head trauma could have been inflicted on Minor. Bowman was unemployed at the time of Minor's homicide. He was dependent on Appellant for food, shelter, and clothing. R. 342, l. 2- 346, l. 25. He did not have his own car or phone. While Appellant went on prostitution calls, Bowman babysat Minor. *Id.*

By his own testimony Bowman was alone with Minor from 8:35 p.m. to 11:00 p.m. and again from 12:22 a.m. to 1:00 a.m. in the hours leading up to his death. Over the course of law enforcement's investigation, Bowman made multiple inconsistent statements about the events culminating in Minor's death. R. 346, ll. 13 - 25. Two weeks before Appellant's trial, Bowman settled on the version of events he would use at trial. *Id.*

Bowman testified that on December 27th, two days before it was medically possible for Minor to have experienced the fatal head injuries, he, Appellant, and Minor drove to meet Appellant's mother for a late Christmas gift exchange in Asheville, North Carolina. R. 347, l. 4 - 351, l. 23. Appellant's mother gave Minor roller skates. Bowman claimed that Minor fell and hit his head on ground while on using the skates. *Id.*

The prosecutor then had Bowman recount all of the instances on December 27th where he claimed that Appellant hit Minor. Bowman claimed that, on the morning of the 27th, Minor was

getting dressed, but put his shoes on wrong. Bowman alleged that Appellant hit Minor several times on the back of the head with her open hand. R. 348, ll. 6-20. Next, as they were getting ready to leave for Asheville, Minor did not correctly buckle his car seat. According to Bowman, Appellant hit Minor in the chest. *Id.* at ll. 22-25.

Bowman had to be prompted by the solicitor to remember the next supposed instance of abuse from the 27th:

Q: Did you say -- when she smacked his head did you say something about a coffee table?

A: Yes, sir. . . . [Minor's] head had bounced off the coffee table that day. She had smacked him in the back of the head and his head had hit off the coffee table. The front of his head hit off the coffee table.

R. 349, ll. 1-18. Bowman also recalled that Appellant had allegedly hit Minor in the chest after they returned to their trailer in Enoree from visiting Appellant's mother because Minor had repeated from Bowman that Appellant was a prostitute. R. 350, l. 12 - 351, l. 23.

Moving to the 28th, Bowman testified that Appellant hit Minor after he got in a dispute with another child at the Laurens McDonalds. Bowman next claimed that Appellant hit Minor in the genitals after Minor grabbed his groin so as to mimic an insult Bowman had just made. R. 354, ll. 2-23.

Turning to December 29th, Bowman stated that he woke up and began cleaning their trailer. He then fixed breakfast for himself and Minor. According to Bowman, Minor attempted to wake-up Appellant. Appellant responded by striking Minor in the chest. R. 358, l. 14 - 359, l. 13. Bowman then claimed that Appellant woke-up around 11:30 a.m. and spanked and bit Minor again for trying to play with her while she was eating. R. 359, l. 15 - 360, l. 24.

Bowman then testified that, as they were preparing for dinner around 5:00-6:00 p.m., Minor "did make a reference to his groin. He said ouch. He grabbed himself. And I said, 'Go show it to you mom,' and she goes and -- he goes in there to tell his mom. She sends him back in there with me. She says, 'Go watch the movie with your dad.'" R. 362, ll. 21-25. This is Bowman's first recollection of any problems with Minor's groin.

Bowman stated that Minor did not eat all of his food at dinner. "He seemed like he was groggy and kind of sluggish. I just figured it, too, he might have been tired or something." R. 363, ll. 3-8. Bowman recalled that Minor threw up after dinner. R. 363, l. 16 - 365, l. 6. Bowman also got sick and vomited. According to Bowman, Appellant punished Minor throwing up by spanking him. R. 365, ll. 3-6.

Bowman asked Minor if he was feeling alright after vomiting and Minor said he was. R. 367, ll. 7-18. Bowman then gave Minor a bath and for the first time, "noticed some bruising on his testicles." *Id.* Bowman told Appellant about the bruising, but he claimed she was unconcerned. When Bowman returned to take Minor out of the bath, he realized that Minor had defecated in the batg. R. 368, l. 5-19.

At Appellant's insistence, Bowman spanked Minor for defecated in the bathtub. While he was being spanked, Minor's head hit the plastic tub of the trailer. *Id.* Bowman testified that Minor's head did not hit the tub hard. *Id.* At around 8:30 - 9:00 p.m., Appellant went to meet a prostitution client in Spartanburg, approximately forty minutes away. Appellant stopped at a nearby gas station and picked up a stray cat that she took back to their trailer before finally heading out to meet the "John". R. 369, l. 15 - 371, l. 18.

Bowman claimed that he and Minor fell asleep waiting on Appellant to return from visiting her client. R. 371, l. 6 - 374, l. 18. Despite Spartanburg being over a half-hour drive from their

trailer, Bowman testified that Appellant was not gone for more than 35 to 40 minutes. *Id.* When Appellant returned she explained to Bowman that they were going to see a "John" in Newberry who had contacted her earlier that day. *Id.*

Bowman recollected that he did not want to go with Appellant, but that Appellant was nervous about the "John" because she had never been to Newberry. Bowman recalled that Minor woke up when Appellant returned and that "[h]e sounded like he was tired and he could have been ill the way he was crying, whining." R. 373, ll. 9-19. **However, Bowman stated that Minor was able to communicate and did not have any "developmental delays."** *Id.*

Bowman stated that Appellant took Minor and placed him into his car seat located behind the driver's seat. R. 374, l. 1 - 376, l. 20. When Minor continued to wince about being woken up and was unable to buckle his car seat, Appellant hit him twice in the chest. *Id.* The three finally left for Newberry around 11:00 p.m. Minor slept for the drive, Bowman claimed he could hear him snoring. *Id.*

Appellant was driving and had a hard time locating the "John's" house. R. 377, l. 3 - 382, l. 20. When they arrived at the house sometime after midnight, Appellant went inside while Bowman remained with Minor. *Id.* According to Bowman, he and Minor both fell asleep. *Id.* At some point while Appellant is still inside with the "John" Bowman woke up:

A: I dozed off for a little bit, and I -- I'm not sure how long. I ended up hearing a noise outside the car. I'm thinking it was her. wake up. And I don't hear [Minor] snoring back there no more, so I turn around and I shake him a little bit, "Hey, Buddy, you okay back there?" **He wakes up. He's like uh-huh, and he goes back to sleep.** So I got back to sleep myself. . . .

Q: You wake him up?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And ask if he's okay?

A: Yeah.

Q: And he says uh-huh?

A: Yes, sir. He says uh-huh like - -

Q: Like he's okay?

A: Yeah.

R. 379, l. 14- 380, l. 8 (*emphasis added*). Bowman then fell back asleep. A short time later, Appellant left the "John's" house and got back into the car. When she returned, Bowman asked her if Minor had sleep apnea because it sounded to Bowman like Minor may have briefly stopped breathing.

Bowman recalled that Appellant dismissed his concerns and believed that Minor was "probably just sleeping hard." R. 380, ll. 10-25. Bowman then claimed that he tried to wake Minor up to tell him that they were heading home, but Minor was unresponsive with a brown substance coming out of his nose and mouth. *Id.* According to Bowman, he was the first to realize that they need to take Minor to the hospital. R. 381, l. 2 - 382, l. 8.

Appellant initially believed that they should take him to Laurens Hospital because she knew where it was. Eventually Bowman convinced her to start looking for a hospital in Newberry. *Id.* After driving around for a few minutes, they saw a sign for the Newberry Hospital and followed it. Bowman carried Minor into the emergency room while Appellant parked the car.

At trial, Bowman admitted to lying to police about the circumstance regarding Minor's death. He claimed that he lied to protect Appellant and that he loved Minor. R. 388, ll. 9-20. On cross-examination, Bowman admitted that he initially told police that he bathed and showered naked with Minor regularly. R. 482, l. 24 - 485, l. 21. At trial, Bowman clarified that he had only

showered or bathed naked with Minor on a few occasions. He conceded that he had showered naked with Minor on December 29th and noticed "some bruise" on Minor's genitals. *Id.*

Bowman repeatedly justified his lack of concern about this alleged genital bruise by stating that he was afraid of being called a child molester and that he had been molested as a child. R. 489, l. 8 - 491, l. 7; R. 506, l. 1 - 507, l. 21. Bowman was also forced to admit on cross-examination that he had previously told police that Appellant was not home when he got mad at Minor and hit him after he defecated in the tub on the night of the 29th. R. 535, ll. 5-21.

Bowman also stated on cross-examination that he only discovered that Minor was not breathing as Appellant returned to the car after finishing with the "John" in Newberry. "I figured he wasn't responding when she got in the car. . . . We took him immediately to the emergency room." R. 539, ll. 10-22.

In a short re-direct, the solicitor had Bowman repeat the times that Appellant purportedly hit Minor in the days leading up to Minor's death. R. 588, l. 10 - 591, l. 8. Bowman claimed that on the 27th, Appellant hit Minor multiple times in the stomach. On the 28th, Appellant hit Minor in the groin. Finally, according to Bowman, Appellant hit Minor in the stomach again on the 29th causing him to fall to the ground and hit his head around lunchtime. **Notably absent from Bowman's many different claims is any allegation that Appellant hit Minor in the head from 10:30 p.m. on the 29th until Minor's death.**

*Trial Testimony of Dr. Janet Ross*

Dr. Janet Ross, a forensic pathologist, performed Minor's autopsy. Like Dr. Holaday, Dr. Ross concluded Minor died from respiratory depression cause by a subdural hematoma putting pressure on the regions of the brain responsible for regulating breathing and blood flow. R. 729, ll.

3-20. Also like Dr. Holaday, she believed that the internal injuries to Minor's abdomen would have been fatal if left untreated, but did not kill Minor. *Id.*

Minor had bruises on the left side of his forehead, his left cheek, under his chin, and around both eyes. R. 708, l. 14 - 709, l. 21. Blunt force trauma caused all of the bruising. There was no pattern to the bruises. *Id.* The bruising on Minor's genitals covered his penis, left scrotum. Minor also had internal bleeding and bruising around his bladder. R. 710, ll. 2-7. This suggested that the injuries to the genitals required a substantial amount of force.

There was no pattern to the bruises on his abdomen that spanned his right hip. The autopsy also revealed that Minor's stomach contained undigested vegetable matter. This led Dr. Ross to believe that at least one of the major injuries to Minor occurred within an hour of eating and stopped the digestive process.

In her expert medical opinion, Minor would not have been eating or functioning normally after experiencing the injuries to his abdomen, head, or genitals. Dr. Ross believed that there may have been defensive wounds on Minor's left elbow. R. 712, ll. 14-21.

With respect to the fatal head injuries, Dr. Ross concluded that Minor would have died within an hour of experiencing the head trauma and:

It would be minutes to maybe as much as an hour. The time of death -- the time of injury is difficult. It's very difficult to age a bruise, even microscopically. Although all the bruises looked to be about the same. They were very, very recent. So the only thing that I could analyze as far as time of death or time of injury is the fact that he had food in his stomach still, and he had some -- 100 CCs of liquid and corn kernels.

R. 724, ll. 16-23. Mirroring, Dr. Holaday's conclusions, Dr. Ross reported that Minor died anywhere from two hours to just minutes after the blows to his head. R. 734, l. 2 - 738, l. 12. Looking at the various bruises, she could not determine whether a single blow or combination of

blows to Minor's head were fatal. R. 739, ll. 5-24. She concluded that bruises appeared to have happened roughly contemporaneously.

When asked on cross-examination, Ross testified that she would have expected Minor to be unconscious for "some period of time" before dying. R. 743, ll. 2-11. **She also stated that a person who was unaware that the child had been beaten could reasonably believe that the child was asleep rather than unconscious.** R. 744, ll. 3-17.

She agreed that a child who had sustained head injuries like Minor would not have been able to answer questions, but would be breathing. R. 746, ll. 2 - 24. Dr. Ross did not believe that Minor would have been able to kick or fight being put in a car seat. Minor also would not have been able to verbally communicate and would not have drifted in and out of consciousness. R. 746, l. 25 - 747, l. 9.

Moreover, in her expert opinion, a hit on the head two days before Minor's death would not have caused the fatal subdural hematoma. R. 750, ll. 6-16. She also believed that it would not have been possible to bathe Minor without noticing the bruises and damage to his genitals. R. 752, ll. 3-21. In brief re-direct, Dr. Ross summarized Minor's cause of death: "once that injury -- the bleeding starts in the head then you're talking minutes, whether it's five or 60. R. 761, ll. 21-25.

*Additional State's Evidence*

Historical cell tower data analysis of Appellant's phone showed that on the 29th, the Newberry "John" first called Appellant at 12:53 p.m. Appellant's phone "pinged" off of a tower near her trailer in Enoree for most of the day. However, at 8:52 p.m. her phone "pinged" off of a cellular tower around Spartanburg. R. 684, ll. 14-24. Her phone returned to "ping" off of the tower closest to her trailer at 11:19 p.m. *Id.* At 11:41 p.m. her phone "pinged" off of the tower closet to

her trailer for the final time. At 12:21 p.m., her phone “pinged” off of a cellular tower in Newberry.  
*Id.*

The Newberry “John” also testified at the trial. He recalled that Appellant had difficulty finding his house and that she did not arrive until around 12:30 p.m. R. 122, l. 1 - 126, l. 11. He reflected that he and Appellant engaged in some “small talk” before and after having sex. R. 129, l. 14 - 214, l. 20. He believed that the sex lasted for well under thirty minutes, and that Appellant left around 1:00 a.m. *Id.*

#### *Trial Testimony of Appellant*

Appellant’s testimony was largely corroborative of the State’s evidence. She testified that she worked as a prostitute and that on the 29th she met two clients. The first was a regular client in Spartanburg. They met at a hotel off of I-26. Bowman was alone with Minor from 8:35 p.m. until 11:00 p.m. The second client was the Newberry “John”.

She testified that when she returned from the Spartanburg client, she hurriedly cleaned off to prepare to go Newberry and that Minor appeared to be asleep. Bowman put Minor in the car seat and it never occurred to her that Minor might be seriously injured. Her biggest point of deviation from Bowman’s version of events was that she stated she was not home when Minor threw up after dinner.

#### *Defense Directed Verdict*

As the close of the State’s case, the defense moved for a directed verdict of acquittal arguing that the State had failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had caused the head injuries to Minor or, having known about the head injuries and their severity, failed to seek medical treatment. R. 801, l. 25 - 824, l. 23. The defense specifically argued that

Bowman never testified that Appellant hit Minor within the three hour window of opportunity that the State's medical experts had identified.

*Trial Testimony of Defense Medical Expert Dr. Ellen Riemer*

Like Dr. Holaday and Dr. Ross, Dr. Riemer's concluded that Minor died as a result of blunt force trauma injuries to the head. In agreement with the other medical experts, Dr. Riemer testified that Minor would not have survived for more than an hour after the injury. R. 840, l. 21 - 855, l. 23. Her only area of disagreement with Dr. Ross was that Dr. Riemer believed that the food matter found in Minor's stomach indicated that the injuries were likely sustained within two to three hours of eating. Dr. Ross had concluded that the injuries were likely sustained within one hour of eating.  
*Id.*

**Discussion**

The court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on the charge of homicide by child abuse as a principal where the State failed to produce any evidence that Appellant inflicted the fatal head trauma or was aware of the head trauma and failed to promptly seek medical attention for Minor.

Our Supreme Court has held that when reviewing a trial judge's denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court is required to consider "not whether there is 'any' evidence to support the conviction, but whether viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, there is sufficient evidence to justify a rational trier of fact to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Stewart*, 278 S.C. 296, 295 S.E.2d 627, 632 (1982), citing *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781 (1979); see also, *State v. Asbury*, 328 S.C. 187, 493 S.E.2d 349 (1997). The accused is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to present evidence

to support every element of the charged offense. *See State v. Brown*, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004).

When considering a motion for directed verdict of acquittal, “the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight.” *Brown*, 360 S.C. at 586, 602 S.E.2d at 395. “When the State fails to produce *substantial circumstantial evidence* that the defendant committed a particular crime, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict.” *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011) (*emphasis added*). “Suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” *See State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 322, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404-05 (2001)

#### **Homicide by Child Abuse**

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