ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000843

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

THEIA DARION MCARDLE,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3922

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29649
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motions for directed verdict when the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, reveals direct evidence and substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove Appellant's guilt of homicide by child abuse.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 2, 2015, the Newberry County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on the charge of Homicide by Child Abuse (HCA) (2015-GS-36-0133). On April 4–8, 2016, Appellant proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. Charles Verner, Esquire, represented Appellant; Solicitor David Stumbo, Esquire, and Assistant Solicitor Taylor Daniel, Esquire, represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged and the trial judge sentenced her to thirty years' imprisonment.

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal and subsequently submitted a Brief in support of his appeal. This Brief of Respondent follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At 1:35 a.m. on December 30, 2014, Richard Bowman walked into the Newberry County Memorial Hospital Emergency Room (ER) carrying Victim. Victim was unresponsive, not breathing, and leaking brown vomit from his nose and mouth. Medical staff grabbed Victim and attempted resuscitation in a nearby room. Moments later, Appellant walked into the ER. Lisa Frick, the ER's on-duty registration clerk, attempted to collect information about the incident from Appellant and Bowman. Appellant claimed Bowman was Victim's biological father. Bowman disputed the claim which led to a verbal altercation between the two. Appellant eventually conceded the point, but claimed Bowman was "the only father [Victim's] ever had." Appellant also provided Frick with an incorrect address and claimed she did not possess a photo ID or Victim's Medicaid card because her purse had been stolen. (R.p.26, line 9 –R.p.37, line 2).

Meanwhile, Dr. Duncan Holaday, an emergency physician at the hospital, began treatment on Victim. Immediately, Dr. Holaday knew Victim's condition was dire after observing: (1) Victim was not breathing; (2) he did not have a pulse or neurological activity; (3) his skin was cold to the touch and discolored; and (4) the vomit around his nose and mouth had dried and congealed. Dr. Holaday and the nurses in the room attempted to restart Victim's breathing but found large amounts of brown, congealed material obstructing his airway. Dr. Holaday knew his chances of resuscitating Victim at this point were "nearly zero," but continued emergency treatment for approximately thirty minutes until he finally pronounced Victim dead at 2:06 a.m. After informing Appellant of Victim's death, he went back and reviewed Victim's body and noticed severe bruising around his abdomen, genitals, and his head. Dr. Holaday concluded Victim's injuries were likely the result of "non-accidental," blunt force trauma. (R.p.66, line 12–R.p.78, line 9).

Shortly after Victim's death, deputy coroner John Pollard arrived at the hospital. Dr. Holaday and the head nurse briefed Pollard on Victim's apparent injuries. After viewing Victim's body himself, he determined Victim's death was likely the result of criminal behavior and notified law enforcement of the situation. He also separated Appellant and Bowman for future police questioning. After SLED arrived and took pictures of Victim's injuries, he took the body to Dr. Janice Ross for an autopsy. (R.p.51, line 4–R.p.56, line 25).

Later, in an investigation of Appellant, Bowman, and Victim's home, officers found vomit stains on Victim's tee shirts and a pillow in his bed. Forensic analysis of the items identified the DNA in the stains as Appellant's. (R.p.171, line 1–R.p.177, line 25; R.p.772, line 10–R.p.774, line 16; R.p.1073; R.pp.1074–80).

Medical Testimony

Dr. Holaday testified he believed Victim had been dead before arriving at the ER that night, but he was unsure of exactly how long Victim had been beyond resuscitation. However, based on his review of the autopsy report and his own recollection of that night, he estimated Victim had succumbed to his injuries less than two hours before his arrival because rigor mortis/stiffness had not yet occurred in Victim's body. Dr. Holaday further testified he believed Victim's head injury was likely the result of abuse and it did not occur immediately before death: he explained the bleeding on Victim's brain, a subdural hemorrhage¹, occurred over some period of time, possibly as a result of multiple head injuries, and once the build-up put enough pressure on the brain Victim's respiration processes would have slowly shut down over an additional period of time. (R.p.70, line 8–R.p.71, line 25; R.p.78, line 25–R.p.83, line 15; R.p.95, lines 7–9; R.p.99, line 18–R.p.100, line 25; R.p.104, line 13–R.p.108, line 9).

¹ At trial, Dr. Ross explained a subdural hemorrhage involves bleeding in the subdural space, an area located between the membrane covering the brain and the skull. Once the blood pools, it is classified as a subdural hematoma. (R.p.721, line 23–R.p.722, line 8).

Dr. Holaday also discussed Appellant's other injuries. According to Dr. Holaday, the bruises, including the one on Victim's forehead, were readily observable and incurred some period of time before Victim was brought to the hospital. Additionally, the autopsy had discovered Victim had extensive internal injuries, a ruptured small intestine, which Holaday opined would have killed Victim within days. (R.p.75, line 21–R.p.77, line 23; R.p.89, line 22–R.p.95, line 23).

Dr. Janet Ross also testified at trial and described the numerous injuries she found during Victim's autopsy. She agreed with Dr. Holaday's assessment that Victim experienced bleeding in his brain area which created pressure and ultimately led to the cessation of his respiratory functions. She added that Victim also experienced cerebral edema, in which the brain itself swells in reaction to blunt force trauma as well as the subdural hemorrhage. She was unable to determine how long the subdural hemorrhage and been pooling in Victim's brain area, noting she could not determine with certainty how long before the Victim's death he suffered the blow which caused the bleeding, but that the pooling blood reached critical levels up to an hour before Victim's death. Similarly, she could not determine whether the fatal head trauma occurred before or after the remainder of Victim's injuries. She also claimed Dr. Holaday's calculation of Victim's death as occurring up to two hours before his arrival at the hospital could have been correct, but rigor mortis is inexact and factors such as sleep may extend the process of rigor mortis by hours. (R.p.721, line 8–R.p.724, line 20; R.p.726, lines 16–24; R.p.728, line 15–R.p.730, line 10; R.p.734, line 2–R.p.735, line 2; R.p.740, line 17–R.p.742, line 4; R.p.754, lines 7–16).

The only metric Dr. Ross could use to roughly determine Victim's time of death or time of injury was the fact he had food in his stomach, which indicated he suffered an injury sufficient

to stop digestion within an hour of eating. She explained a head injury or a traumatic injury in the abdomen could both cause this effect and there was no way to tell whether the head injuries, internal organ injuries, or some combination thereof caused the cessation of digestion. However, she admitted the abdominal injury was probably the sole or primary cause of the cessation of Victim's digestive functions based on the speed at which they shut down. Thus, it was possible the head trauma occurred earlier in the day than the blow which ruptured the small intestine. She opined Victim could have been healthy enough to eat at least as early as 5:00 p.m. Additionally, Dr. Ross agreed Victim's severe stomach injury would have killed him within one or two days. (R.p.724, line 20–R.p.726, line 3; R.p.730, lines 11–25; R.p.737, line 2–R.p.738, line 3; R.p.745, lines 4–23; R.p.755, line 8–R.p.757, line 20).

Dr. Ross noted Appellant's subdural hemorrhaging could have been caused by a single or multiple blows and the bruising on the exterior of Victim's head indicated the locations of the blow(s) which killed him, and Victim could have been injured over a period ranging from minutes to numerous hours. (R.p.738, line 13–R.p.739, line 19).

Dr. Ellen Riemer, a forensic pathologist with the Medical University of South Carolina, testified for the defense. She agreed Victim's death resulted from the blunt force injuries to the head and noted Victim had at least three to four "impacts" in that area, of which any single or combination of blows may have contributed to the sum total of bleeding on the brain. She also concurred with the earlier testimony claiming: (1) Victim's bruises indicated injuries that occurred in the same general timeframe, but specified this timeframe could have been between zero and thirty-six hours of his death; (2) the injury to Victim's small intestine would have killed him within a matter of days; (3) the subdural hematoma could have built up over several hours and would have killed Victim within an hour after forming by causing his physiological

functions to slowly shut down over that period; and (4) she could not definitively determine the time at which Victim died. (R.p.841, line 6–R.p.851, line 6; R.p.857, line 4–R.p.860, line 18; R.p.868, lines 10–22; R.p.890, line 24–R.p.892, line 24).

Dr. Riemer claimed Victim’s various injuries occurred in the same timeframe, which she further defined as “a series of hours.” She concluded the final head injury likely occurred after dinner because Victim would not have ate while under the effects of the head injury, but admitted the stomach injury may have caused the cessation of digestion. She also conceded Victim may have suffered his injuries before eating dinner, which could have led to a loss of appetite or vomiting afterwards. (R.p.852, line 4–R.p.856, line 19; R.p.870, line 4–R.p.871, line 20; R.p.872, line 8–R.p.874, line 4; R.p.879, line 6–R.p.881, line 18).

Bowman’s Testimony

Bowman testified as a State’s witness. He met Appellant in March 2013, after he was discharged from the military. Within weeks they began dating and moved in together. On or around November 8, 2014, Bowman, Appellant, and Victim moved from Ashville, North Carolina to Enoree, South Carolina. By the time they arrived in South Carolina, Appellant through prostitution, became the sole breadwinner for the family. The three lived in a trailer, with Bowman and Appellant sharing a bedroom and Victim sleeping on an inflatable mattress in the living room. The other bedroom was given to various cats Appellant brought into the home. (R.p.336, line 15–R.p.345, line 17).

Bowman claimed Appellant routinely hit Victim as a form of corporal punishment and recalled numerous instances of such that in the days leading up to Victim’s death. On the morning of December 27, Appellant hit Victim on the back of the head several times because he put his shoes on incorrectly, with one of the blows causing Victim to fall and hit his head on a

coffee table. Later, she punched him in the chest when he had difficulty buckling his seatbelt and punched him again when he made a comment about Appellant being a prostitute. On December 28, Appellant hit Victim in the chest because he shot her with a toy gun while she was asleep. She hit him yet again because he played too roughly with another child at a local McDonald's. That night, Appellant punched Victim in the genitals after he mimicked Bowman taunting Appellant and grabbing his own genitals. (R.p.347, line 14–R.p.356, line 24).

Bowman further recalled several instances of abuse which occurred on December 29. Appellant struck Victim for the first time that day with a punch to his chest when he woke her up. Later that morning, Victim bit Appellant and in response she spanked him and bit him back. Around lunchtime, Appellant punched Victim in the stomach several times after he knocked a laptop computer off a coffee table. One of the blows caused Victim to fall to the ground and hit his head. That afternoon, while in the car, Appellant struck Victim again over frustration with his inability to properly dress himself, spanking him and “popp[ing]” him on the back of the head several times. She punched his chest twice later that evening, sometime before dinner, when he repeated comments made by Appellant while she was on the phone. (R.p.358, line 16–R.p.363, line 15; R.p.365, line 7–R.p.366, line 18; R.p.573, line 1–R.p.574, line 8; R.p.586, line 13–R.p.587, line 10; R.p.590, line 17–R.p.591, line 12).

Later that night, Victim was unable to finish his dinner. After a few bites of food, he vomited. Victim appeared very ill and unable to “communicate anything at the time.” Appellant witnessed Victim get sick. Bowman gave Victim a bath to clean the vomit on him and noticed the bruising on his testicles. He informed Appellant of the bruising but she was dismissive of the injury. Victim defecated in the bathtub and Appellant told Bowman to spank him. Bowman did, and Victim hit his head on the side of the tub. Bowman claimed Victim's head did not hit the

tub hard. After the bath, Bowman put Victim to bed on the air mattress and fell asleep in his room. Appellant went to Spartanburg to meet with a client. After Appellant got home, she asked Bowman to accompany her on her next call due to her lack of familiarity with Newberry and the client. Victim, who woke when Appellant returned home, was brought along for the trip. He was upset, tired, and unable to speak clearly. Appellant struck him two additional times after placing him in his carseat. The trio left for Newberry sometime after 11:00 p.m. Throughout the drive, Victim was “whining,” but fell asleep when they neared their destination. After Appellant exited the car for her appointment, Victim and Bowman fell asleep. Bowman woke up at one point and noticed Victim was not snoring. He shook him, and Victim mumbled a response. Bowman went back to sleep until Appellant returned, at which point he informed her he thought Victim might have sleep apnea. They tried to wake Victim, but he was unresponsive. They noticed “brown stuff” coming out of his nose and mouth and took him to the local hospital. (R.p.363, line 16–R.p.365, line 6; R.p.367, line 1–R.p.383, line 23; R.p.581, lines 16–22).

Appellant’s Testimony and Statements

Appellant testified she had never seen Bowman strike or physically harm Victim, but had seen Bowman use “harsh [] words” with him. She also explained Bowman and Victim had their own bathroom on the other side of the house. She was not aware of Victim’s bathing habits and claimed Bowman bathed Victim. (R.p.902, line 5–R.p.903, line 4; R.p.911, line 16–R.p.913, line 1).

Appellant’s description of December 29th differed in several respects from Bowman’s. That morning, she woke up around 9:00 a.m. and called internet providers in an attempt to obtain internet service for the trailer. She woke up and made breakfast for Victim. Later that morning, she went to a Family Dollar store in Laurens, South Carolina to obtain a prepaid Visa card so she

could pay for various things, including internet installation, in the coming weeks. She, Victim, and Bowman spent the rest of the morning watching movies. After lunch, Appellant and Bowman argued over finances, an argument which lasted most of the afternoon and crescendoed with Appellant telling him she no longer loved him. She did not tell Bowman of her plans to leave him, for fear he would damage property in an explosive rage. (R.p.903, line 5–R.p.904, line 2; R.p.906, line 21–R.p.915, line 23)

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